A Current Insight into Aurora Kinase Inhibitors and their Potential as Anticancer Agents

By

Samia Sajnin Khushbu ID: 19346013

A thesis submitted to the School of Pharmacy in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Pharmacy

> School of Pharmacy BRAC University March 2024

© 2024. BRAC University All rights reserved.

Declaration

It is hereby declared that

- The thesis submitted is my own original work while completing degree at BRAC University.
- 2. The thesis does not contain material previously published or written by a third party, except where this is appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.
- 3. The thesis does not contain material which has been accepted, or submitted, for any other degree or diploma at a university or other institution.
- 4. I have acknowledged all main sources of help.

Student's Full Name & Signature:

Khushbu.

SAMIA SAJNIN KHUSHBU Student ID: 19346013

Approval

The thesis titled "A Current Insights into Aurora Kinase Inhibitors and their Potential as Anticancer Agents" submitted by Samia Sajnin Khushbu (19346013) of Summer, 2019 has been accepted as satisfactory in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Pharmacy.

Examining Committee:

Supervised by:

Dr. Nishat Zareen Khair Assistant Professor, School of Pharmacy Brac University

Approved by:

Assistant Dean & Program Director:

Professor Dr. Hasina Yasmin Assistant Dean and Program Director, School of Pharmacy Brac University

Dean:

Professor Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir Dean, School of Pharmacy Brac University

Ethics Statement

This project does not involve any clinical trial or human participants and no animals were used or harmed.

Abstract

The Aurora kinases, comprising Aurora A, Aurora B, and Aurora C, constitute a family of serine/threonine protein kinases that plays a fundamental role in ensuring precise mitotic progression, regulating multiple phases of cell division, and maintaining genomic stability. The purpose of this review work is to provide an updated assessment of Aurora Kinase Inhibitors (AKIs) and their role as promising anticancer agents. Additionally, this article compiles the recent advancements in AKI research, encompassing novel compounds, their mechanisms of action, and preclinical/clinical trial outcomes. Aurora A regulates the process of maturation and separation of centrosomes, whereas Aurora B is responsible for ensuring precise chromosomal segregation. The significant correlation between the progression of malignancy and the dysregulation of Aurora kinases highlights their suitability as targets for pharmacological intervention, thereby making them a very promising area of emphasis for the creation of potent and specific anticancer drugs.

Keywords: Aurora kinases, Aurora A, Aurora B, Aurora C, Kinase inhibition (KIs), Anticancer agents, Small-molecule inhibitors, clinical trials, preclinical studies.

Dedication

Dedicated to my father and my teachers

Acknowledgement

To start with, I would want to convey my deepest gratitude to Allah for bestowing upon strength to continue throughout this period with mercy and kindness. I am sincerely grateful to Dr. Nishat Zareen Khair, Asisstant Professor, School of Pharmacy, Brac University, for consistently directing me and assisting during my project. Her patience and guidance have been invaluable throughout this process.

Furthermore, I'd like to express my heartfelt appreciation to Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir, Dean and Chairperson of the School of Pharmacy at Brac University, for her unwavering dedication and exemplary guidance provided to both the students and the department.

In addition, I would like to extend my profound appreciation to the whole faculty members of the School of Pharmacy for their continuous support, advice, and encouragement.

Lastly, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my parents for their irreplaceable support and motivation throughout my academic journey.

Table of Contents

Declarationii
Approvaliii
Ethics Statementiv
Abstractv
Dedicationvi
Acknowledgementvii
Table of Contents
List of Tablesx
List of Figures:xi
List of Acronymsxii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1: Cancer1
1.2: Structure of Aurora Kinases2
1.3: Association of Aurora Kinase with cancer7
1.4: Targeting Aurora Kinase Inhibitors for anticancer drug development11
1.5: Objectives of the review13
Chapter 2: Methodology14
Chapter 3: Inhibitors of Aurora Kinases15
3.1: Overview of the inhibitory compounds:15
3.2: Different chemical classes of AKIs17

3.2.1: Pyrimidines as inhibitors of Aurora Kinase17
3.2.2: Quinazolines and quinolines as inhibitors of Aurora Kinase
3.2.3: Pyridine as an inhibitor of Aurora Kinase20
3.2.4: Benzimidazole as an AURKA blocker21
3.3: Preclinical Studies: In vitro and in vivo findings22
3.4: Aurora Kinase inhibitors in clinical trials according to recent progress25
3.4.1: TAK-901
3.4.2: Barasertib (AZD1152)28
3.4.3: MLN805429
3.4.4: Danusertib
3.4.5: AMG-90031
3.4.6: GSK107091632
3.5: FDA approved Aurora Kinase Inhibitors:
3.6: Combination therapy with AKIs34
3.7: The limitations of Aurora Kinase inhibitors
Chapter 4: Conclusion
Chapter 5: Future perspective and therapeutic potential40
References

List of Tables

Table 1: AKIs in Preclinical investigations	23
Table 2: Clinical investigations of AKIs	26

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Segregation Errors of Chromosomes During Mitosis (Potapova & Go	orbsky, 2017)
	2
Figure 2: Structure of Aurora Kinase (Zhang et al., 2020)	3
Figure 3: Aurora-A's impact on the cell cycle (Nikonova et al., 2012)	5
Figure 4: Activity of Aurora B across the cell cycle (Gully et al., 2012)	6
Figure 5: Highly potent o-Chlorophenyl Substituted Pyrimidines (Lawrence et a	l., 2012b; Xu
et al., 2020b)	19
Figure 6: Chemical structure of benzimidazole (Ibrahim & Refaat, 2020)	22
Figure 7: Structure of Barasertib (AZD1152)	
Figure 8: Structure of MLN8054	
Figure 9: Chemical structure of Danusertib	
Figure 10: Chemical Structure of AMG-900	
Figure 11: Chemical Structure of GSK1070916	
Figure 12: Chemical structure of Alisertib	

List of Acronyms

AKIs	Aurora Kinase Inhibitors
AKs	Aurora Kinases
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
CDK	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase
PI3K	The phosphatidyinositide 3-kinase
рНН3	Phospho-Histone H3
PDB	Protein Data Bank
GD2	Ganglioside D2
VX-680	Tozasertib
IMR-32	A human neuroblastoma cell line
TH-MYCN	Transgenic Mouse Model Overexpressing MYCN
AURKA	Aurora Kinase A
AURKB	Aurora Kinase B
AURKC	Aurora Kinase C
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
N-Myc	Neuroblastoma MYC oncogene
P53	Tumor Protein P53
HCT-116	A human colorectal cancer cell line
АКТ	Protein Kinase B
МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Peptide Kinases
STAT3	The transcription Mediator and Signalling The transmitter No. 3

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1: Cancer

Despite significant investments in cancer research in recent decades, cancer remains a prominent contributor to global human mortality, persisting as one of the primary causes of death internationally. Cancer develops through intricate mechanisms that encompass a succession of genetic and epigenetic modifications. Due to the fact that individual cancer patients may contain unique driver mutations and possess diverse genetic backgrounds, it is exceedingly challenging to develop a universal treatment regimen (Mou et al., 2021) Presently employed chemotherapeutic agents for cancer treatment are accompanied by a number of severe adverse effects, lack of selectivity in their mechanism of action, and the development of resistance to clinically relevant anticancer medications Fu et al. (2007). So, novel targets must be identified, and new entities must be designed and developed in order to provide a safer and more effective treatment regimen.

Mitosis and the control of cell cycle checkpoints are facilitated by a multitude of serine/threonine protein kinases called mitotic kinases. Mitosis, an intricately regulated mechanism, guarantees the accurate division of cells within multicellular organisms. It generates two identical copies of daughter cells through the construction of a bipolar mitotic spindle (Cardon et al., 2009). An error in this procedure has the potential to compromise the integrity of the genome, leading to the generation of cells exhibiting genetic instability or aneuploidy (abnormal chromosome content) as shown in figure 1.1, which may promote cellular demise or contribute to the development of tumors (Dalton & Yang, 2009). Moreover, these mitotic abnormalities serve as defining characteristics of the majority of malignancies.



Figure 1: Segregation Errors of Chromosomes During Mitosis (Potapova & Gorbsky, 2017)

Proteolysis, protein localization, and protein phosphorylation are three crucial regulatory mechanisms that effectively propel the cell through the mitotic phase. Targeting these components of mitotic checkpoints is a subject of intensive research due to its potential to regulate tumor progression. The cyclin-dependent kinase-1 family (CDK-1), the polo-like kinase family (Plk), the Aurora family, and the never in mitosis gene a (NIMA)-related family belong to the targets (Ferrari et al., 2005a). Aurora kinases, also known as mitotic kinases, are essential regulatory proteins that govern the process of mitotic cell division (Adams et al., 2010). Aurora kinases constitute a significant class of enzymes that are classified within the Serine/Threonine kinase family (Cheetham et al., 2002).

1.2: Structure of Aurora Kinases

Three distinct subtypes of Aurora kinases are labeled as Aurora A, Aurora B, and Aurora C. Three distinct regions comprise aurora kinases: An N-terminal region (39–139aa), a domain at the C-terminus (15–20aa) as illustrates in figure 1.2, and an extensively stable kinase domain (250–300aa). A hinge region separates originating from the α -stranded N-terminal region of the α -helical C-terminal section, thereby ensuring the maintenance of the active conformation within the Aurora kinase site (Farrell et al., 2009a). Eleven subdomains that are conserved and are partitioned by insertion sites that are less conserved make up the Aurora kinase domain. Phosphorylation of a surviving portions (Tr288 in AurA) A conformational change occurs in the kinase domain at its C-terminal lobe, which is associated with kinase activity(Ferrari et al., 2005).



Figure 2: Structure of Aurora Kinase (Zhang et al., 2020)

The Aurora kinase domains consists of linear, concise motifs (SLiMs) that act as degrons which leading to degradation through the proteasome system (Bayliss et al., 2004). There are resemblances between the ATP-binding region found within the Aurora kinase section and those present in SRC kinase and GSK-3β. Following the bending of the domains at the N and

C junctions, an alternative conformation is attained in the site of activity of Aurora kinases. The hydrogen bonds that connect the adenosine purine ring in relation to the kinase domain's junction of AurA are specific(de Souza & Kawano, 2020). AurA-specific inhibitor development is facilitated by the presence of three distinct forms of the ATP-binding domain (T217, L215, R220) in human Aurora proteins that are unique to AurA. Notably, the antagonist VX-680 demonstrates a preference for AurA (0.6 nM) in comparison to AurB (18 nM) and AurC (4.6 nM), signifying the existence of distinct structural attributes shared by the components of Aurora A, B and C.

The size and sequence of the non-catalytic domains at the N and C junctions of Aurora Kinases differ between human and homologous counterparts. After mitosis, the Cdh1 protein in humans recognises degrons in these domains in order to degrade Aurora protein. Cdh1, serving as a substrate-specific adaptor, enhances the activity of the Ube2S E2 enzyme coordinates the degradation of APC/C by E3 ligase. Aurora kinases encompass degrons, including D-boxes, KEN motifs, and DAD/A boxes(Ouchi et al., 2015). In the kinase domain all components of aurora, D-boxes are well-established degrons. Although both AurA and AurB feature KEN motifs, their role in the proteasome-mediated degradation of AurA remains unclear. Both AurA and AurB possess DAD/A boxes, unique degrons that facilitate degradation through APC/C(Ouchi et al., 2015). The C-terminal D-boxes may contribute to intra-molecular interactions, while the N-terminal ones may expose Short, Linear Motifs (SLiMs) declines before degradation controlled by APC/C (Stewart & Fang, 2005).

Additionally, Co-factor interactions that are essential for folding of proteins and Aurora kinase activity are facilitated by the C-terminal domain. Affecting cellular localization, Each Aurora individual's exceedingly varying N-terminal domain can regulate kinase interaction with protein partners(Sugimoto et al., 2002). The subcellular localization of AurA and AurB enables them to reciprocally rescue one another's mitotic functions. Primarily expressed in germ cells,

AurC can function as the somatic cell chromosomal passenger complex (CPC) enzyme in lieu of AurB (Yan et al., 2005). Aurora kinases' distinctive effects in mammalian cells may be largely mediated by their subcellular or cellular localization, according to accumulating evidence. (Borisa & Bhatt, 2017a)

Classification of Aurora kinase: Aurora A, B, and C are the identifiers of three different subtypes that constitute the Aurora kinase family. Despite the fact that they both possess a C-terminal and an N-terminal domain, their functional characteristics exhibit differences.

The expression, localization, and activities of Aurora A during cell entrance and escape from mitosis are depicted in figure 1.3.



Figure 3: Aurora-A's impact on the cell cycle (Nikonova et al., 2012)

Initial genetic studies on Aurora A variations frequently revealed abnormalities in the formation and control of the bipolar spindle during mitosis. An in-depth examination of Aurora A's expression, activation, and specific phosphorylation targets reveals its role in a sequence of events that occur before mitosis, facilitating the proper advancement through this stage of

the cell cycle. Also, Aurora-A regulates various processes including centrosome maturation and segregation, construction of a bipolar spindle, commencement of mitotic entry, alignment of chromosomes in the metaphase, and the final steps of cytokinesis and abscission. The proteolytic degradation of Aurora A is crucial for cells to transition to the G1 phase. Aurora A protein begins to accumulate significantly at centrosomes during the S phase of the cell cycle and becomes activated at the interface between the G2 and M phases. After moving over the mitotic spindle to the midzone while being active, a significant percentage of the protein undergoes break down and becomes inactive before cytokinesis. Early G1 cells show low levels of Aurora A staining. Inhibiting the function of Aurora A would result in an imbalanced distribution of chromosomes among the daughter cells and the development of abnormal spindle structures. (Nikonova et al., 2013).

In case of Aurora B, during prophase and metaphase it exhibits centromere localization as shown in figure 1.4.



Figure 4: Activity of Aurora B across the cell cycle (Gully et al., 2012)

While during mitosis, Histone H3 is activated at the Serine 10 position. Aurora B kinase enhances cellular viability and facilitates the progression of the cell cycle by synthesizing the tumor suppressor protein p53, hence accelerating its breakdown through the proteasome pathway. Inhibiting Aurora B could bypass the spindle checkpoint and abruptly stop cell mitosis, resulting in the development of polyploidy. In addition to impeding cytokinesis and chromosome segregation, its inhibition may also disrupt microtubule interactions(Hirota et al., 2005).

Aurora C is an intermediate protein for the division of chromosomes that is exclusive to the testis and performs an extremely similar function to Aurora B(Sasai et al., 2004). In addition to promoting cancer cell survival, it may induce centrosome amplification and frequently lead to chromosome segregation defects. (Jing & Chen, 2021)

1.3: Association of Aurora Kinase with cancer

Aurora kinases serve crucial roles throughout the process of mitosis; therefore, their aberrant expression may contribute to the cellular alterations that underlie cancer. Upregulation of Aurora kinase in numerous tissues results in genetic instability, or aneuploidy, which has the potential to induce cancer. Aneuploidy, a pathological condition marked by irregular DNA content, can be triggered by mitotic errors like centrosome duplication, separation, cytokinesis, or mistakes in chromosomal bi-orientation. All these mechanisms involve the activity of Aurora kinases. Consequently, it is fascinating to consider that aneuploidy may stem from the abnormal expression of Aurora kinases. As a result, The Aurora genes have received the designation of authentic oncogenes(Keen & Taylor, 2004).

Initially, Aurora A was designated as Breast Tumor Activated Kinase (BTAK) because of its significant increase in mRNA expression in breast cancers and its crucial function in promoting the cellular transformation of breast tumors (BTAK40). The existence of the 20q13 gene in a

breast tumor cannot be relied upon as a prognostic indication(Keen & Taylor, 2004). Reportedly, it has been stated that excessive expression of Aurora A in a location outside of its normal position has the ability to induce tumors in rodents through the transformation of NIHT3 and rat1 cells(Gritsko et al., 2003). The disclosure of these revolutionary findings has heightened interest in the Aurora kinases to an unprecedented degree. By employing both northern and southern blot methodologies, Zhou *et al.* examined an assortment of cellular tumors. Amplifications of Aurora A were identified, ranging from 2.5 to 8 folds, in various cancers including colon cancer cell lines, prostate cancer, leukemia (HL60, K562), neural cell line, and cervical cancer cell line. It has been noted that these alterations lead to a functional polymorphism (Phe31Ile), It is highly linked to the formation of human colon cancer(Sepulveda et al., 2017). Recent reports have identified comparable polymorphisms in lung cancer that is more prevalent among Caucasians.

In numerous other types of tumors, overexpression of Aurora A has been documented. On the basis of the collective findings, it is possible to conclude that Aurora A is a valid oncogene. Tumor formation can also be induced by aberrant Aurora B expression, which is not unexpected given the kinase's involvement in numerous mitotic functions. As a result, Aurora B deserves to be designated as an oncogene. Katayama *et al.* executed western and northern antibody analysis in addition to in situ hybridization on medically extracted colon cancer specimens. The authors documented the upregulation of Aurora B and the progression of the tumor. This noteworthy study sparked enthusiasm regarding the advancement of novel pharmaceuticals targeting Aurora B. The proliferation of invasive thyroid anaplastic carcinoma cells is linked to the suppression of Aurora B45. Aurora B has been found to be over expressed in 46 cases of oral cancer and 47 cases of primary non-small cell lung cancer. Research has investigated the occurrence of Aurora B overexpression in additional tumor classifications. The upregulation of Aurora C has been detected in multiple cancer cell lines.

However, its associated with the advancement of cancer is still unknown. Therefore, current research efforts are focused on identifying Aurora C functions as oncogene. On the basis of these reports, the classification of Aurora kinases as oncogenes is plausible. In contrast to specific oncogenic kinases, their expression is not aberrantly restricted to a single form of tumor. Therefore, the expansion of potential inhibitors of Aurora kinase can target a vast array of tumor types. The potential therapeutic applications of pharmaceuticals that selectively target Aurora kinases are extensive and encompass a broad spectrum of malignancies (Kollareddy et al., 2008). Further details by which Aurora kinases exert their effects in specific forms of cancer is elucidated as follows:

Breast Cancer: An often-observed phenomenon in breast cancer is the increased expression of Aurora A and B, which results in chromosomal instability and aberrant cell division (Thrane et al., 2015). Managing breast cancer becomes notably challenging due to resistance to antiestrogen treatment. Eighteen inhibitors, identified in fulvestrant-resistant and tamoxifen-resistant cell lines, complicate the situation. In resistant cells, WP1130, a deubiquitinase inhibitor, induces caspase-mediated cell death by disrupting Mcl-1. Decreased Mcl-1 levels are linked to increased upregulation. A combination of Aurora kinase and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor effectively hinders the proliferation of tamoxifen-resistant cells and induces G2 phase cell cycle arrest. Aurora kinase A significantly influences cell proliferation, demonstrated by knockout studies where its inhibition renders cells responsive to tamoxifen. Notably, JNJ-7706621 and WP1130 which are a dual inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases and aurora kinases, exhibit preferential growth inhibition in T47D-derived tamoxifenresistant cell lines, suggesting Mcl-1 and Aurora kinase A as potential therapeutic targets. In estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer patients undergoing adjuvant tamoxifen treatment, higher Aurora A expression is significantly associated with

shorter disease-free and overall survival, implying Aurora kinase A as a potential biomarker for tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer (Thrane et al., 2015).

- **Ovarian cancer:** Ovarian malignancies often display elevated levels of Aurora A and B, which leads to the aggressive characteristics of the disease. Aurora kinase inhibitors in ovarian cancer specifically target these kinases to hinder cell proliferation, trigger apoptosis, and limit tumor growth. The inhibitors can be utilized in combination therapy to augment the effectiveness of treatment(Yang et al., 2010)
- Leukemia, including AML and CML: The use of Aurora kinase inhibitors, such as VX-680/MK-0457, has demonstrated effectiveness in the treatment of both acute and chronic myeloid leukemia. By utilizing mutant forms of tyrosine kinases to target leukemic cells, they induce apoptosis and impede colony formation. These inhibitors offer prospective therapeutic alternatives, particularly in instances where conventional tyrosine kinase inhibitors prove ineffective(Melichar et al., 2015).
- HCC: Hepatocellular Carcinoma: VE-465 and other Inhibitors of aurora kinase have demonstrated effectiveness in the management of hepatocellular carcinoma. HCC cells are induced to undergo apoptosis, their proliferation is impeded, and aberrant mitotic spindles are disrupted by these inhibitors. Their potential application is especially auspicious in light of the prevalent upregulation of Aurora-A and -B kinases in HCC(Z.-Z. Lin et al., 2009).
- **Colorectal malignancy:** Frequently, cells derived from colorectal cancer display chromosomal instability and aberrant cell division. Aurora kinase inhibitors cause cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells by targeting these aberrations. The inhibitors have the potential to augment the efficacy of conventional chemotherapy regimens.(X. Lin et al., 2020)

• Lung malignancy: The inhibitors of Aurora kinase have been extensively studied as promising efficient treatment for lung cancer. The potential of the inhibitors in particular subtypes of lung cancer could facilitate the development of more targeted treatment strategies(Galetta & Cortes-Dericks, 2020).

1.4: Targeting Aurora Kinase Inhibitors for anticancer drug development

Developing cancer drugs by targeting Aurora kinase inhibitors requires developing chemicals that specifically inhibit the function of Aurora kinases, which are crucial regulators of the cell cycle. The aim of this procedure is to induce a disruption in the cell division, cause mitotic errors, and ultimately induce apoptosis in cancer cells by blocking these kinases.

The challenge in achieving sufficient selectivity for drug development targeting protein kinases like Aurora-A and -B stems from the common ligand design approach. To design individual ligands effectively, it is crucial to possess a comprehensive understanding of the structural conformation of the targeted ATP binding site. Protein kinases, including Aurora-A and -B, are capable of exhibiting two distinct conformations: "closed" (inactive) and "open" (active). The activation process involves essential steps such as repositioning catalytic residues and organizing the regions comprising the substrate-binding pocket. A key residue on the "activation loop" is phosphorylated, which is the driving force behind these alterations. In order for Aurora-A to be fully activated, it must first undergo autophosphorylation and then attach to TPX-2(Bayliss et al., 2003).

Crystal structures provide insights into the underlying mechanisms of cellular processes. Aurora-B activation involves autophosphorylation at Thr248 and binding to INCENP, leading to conformational changes activating the kinase. Aurora-A, when bound to TPX-2, adopts an active conformation aligning catalytic residues for catalysis. In the absence of TPX-2, disorder occurs, creating an incompatible ATP binding pocket. A unique closed conformation, observed in a pan-Aurora inhibitor complex, offers a potential selective target. The activation of Aurora-B entails self-phosphorylation and binding with INCENP, ultimately resulting in enhanced activity. The lack of comprehensive Aurora-B structural characterization hinders understanding and selective targeting. Chemical 3 inhibits AURKA and AURKB in a closed conformation, suggesting similarity between inactive forms. While Aurora-C lacks documented structures, exploring both Aurora-A and Aurora-B structures unveils strategies for specific inhibitors. The unique configuration of inactive Aurora-A, with a confined hydrophobic pocket near the ATP-binding site, provides specificity. Aurora kinases' flexibility, seen in structural changes during activation, offers opportunities for inhibitors inducing conformational alterations in both active and inactive states. Ligands can immobilize specific conformations or induce localized changes, advantageous in targeting flexible Aurora kinases (Sessa et al., 2005).

1.5: Objectives of the review

- The objective of this review paper is to provide a concise summary of the existing inhibitory compounds of Aurora kinases, encompassing both Aurora-A and B. To accomplish this, it is necessary to provide a detailed account of the inhibitory categories, compositions, and associations of the inhibitors with the kinase targets.
- To summarize the information about the inhibitors function, their mechanism of action, including their effect on the regulation of the cell cycle, specifically in mitosis.
- This essay will also provide an update on the progress of Aurora kinase inhibitor for the development of anticancer agent by analyzing ongoing clinical and preclinical trials. The article also discusses issues including drug resistance and toxicity in clinical environments and investigates possible solutions.

Chapter 2: Methodology

In order to compose this review article, a systematic and methodical synthesis of the extant literature on the topic is required. The objective and scope of this review paper is clearly defined by describing the classifications, mechanisms of action, preclinical and clinical investigations, and potential anticancer properties of Aurora kinase inhibitors. To write this review paper, firstly related keywords are searched in authentic sources to identify pertinent papers, forming the basis for composing this review article. Then a comprehensive literature search is performed by utilizing trustworthy sources, academic papers, and other scholarly databases. For instance, PubMed, ScienceDirect, SpringerLink, Nature is used to gather all the data necessary to compose this review article. Also, to capture the current findings in clinical and preclinical development, Lancet, Peer-reviewed research, MDPI open-access publication, Elsevier are used correctly and referenced. These authentic sources corroborate my content's legitimacy and correctness.

Chapter 3: Inhibitors of Aurora Kinases

3.1: Overview of the inhibitory compounds:

As of now, there is only one FDA-approved medication, alisertib, which has been identified through the efforts of a biopharmaceutical company named "Puma Biotechnology." Functioning as an inhibitor of Aurora kinase A, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has given Orphan Drug Identification to alisertib particularly for the treatment of small cell lung cancer (SCLC). Multiple Aurora inhibitors, after completing their phase 3 clinical trials, have demonstrated anti-cancer capabilities. Nevertheless, current research still remains ongoing for numerous additional inhibitors in the field. (Puma Biotechnology, n.d.).

The expression of all three Aurora kinases (AURKs) is notably observed in many solid and hematological cancers, rendering them important targets for cancer treatment. Various small compounds, such as ZM447439, VX680, AZD1152, MLN8054, and hesperidin, have been identified as specific inhibitors of Aurora-A that directly compete with ATP (Bebbington et al., 2009; Borisa & Bhatt, 2017b; Georgieva et al., 2010). In this chapter, different classes of Aurora kinase inhibitors and their selectivity for AURKs will be discussed. Also, the small molecule inhibitors which demonstrate similar kind of characteristics will be also discussed.

ZM447439, Hesperadin8, and VX-680, three inhibitors of Aurora kinase which has been found initially, exhibit promisingly similar characteristics in cellular experiments. In particular, all three substances hinder both cell division and serine 10 phosphorylation of histone H3. Despite this effect, they do not hinder the advancement of the cell cycle(Hauf et al., 2003). Instead, tumor cells treated with these drugs undergo mitosis and replicate their genomes again at a pace similar to untreated cells, leading to the development of tetraploidy. Their conduct exhibits a departure from the conventional 'antimitotic' agents. It appears that the effects of protracted exposure to these medications differ between cell lines(Ditchfield et al., 2003). In

some cells, there is progression through additional cell cycles, leading to extensive polyploidity due to unsuccessful cell division. On the contrary, alternative cell types enter a pseudo-G1 state or endure apoptosis. The observed variations in findings are certainly not caused by the distinctive function of aurora kinase, but rather by the requirements of various cell lines, specifically related to the structure of the post-mitotic checkpoint that relies on p53. (Harrington et al., 2004).

In summary, regulating the process of repair (or apoptosis) by inducing a G1 or S/G2 phase halt in a reaction to DNA damage, p53 appears to regulate an aberrant mitosis-induced split of cells by inducing a G1-like arrest. P53 may serve as a substitute mechanism for the spindle-checkpoint system, thereby obstructing the growth of cells that contain an aberrant genome. After treatment with the Aurora inhibitor ZM447439, endoreduplication in U2OS cells is unfailingly inhibited by P53(Ditchfield et al., 2003). Similar effects are observed in mitosis with both ZM447439 and Hesperadin. Surprisingly, despite the suppression of serine 10 modification of histone H3 Consolidation of chromosomes persists in cells that have been treated with these compounds.

The impacts of VX-680 on mitosis lack elaboration upon in the passage. In contrast, Tumour cells in vivo exhibit a significant decrease in histone H3 phosphorylation at serine 10, suggesting that the inhibitor effectively suppresses Aurora-B kinase activity The passage concludes by highlighting the promising antitumor characteristics of VX-680, which were observed in xenograft experiments using mice. (Pradhan et al., 2021)

3.2: Different chemical classes of AKIs

3.2.1: Pyrimidines as inhibitors of Aurora Kinase

The last couple of years have been emphasized by prominent developments that has been achieved in exploring substituted pyrimidines to identify potential inhibitors of Aurora kinase. In their comprehensive study, Qin *et al.* provided a clear description of the process and assessment of 2,4-diaminopyrimidines, showing them to be potent inhibitors of Aurora A kinase. Various compounds were synthesized and assessed for their cytotoxic characteristics in relation to VX-680. Notably, the IC_{50} values for compounds 1a and 1b were found to be the highest (ranging from 0.5 to 3.6 mM and 2.1 to 4.5 mM) compounds that exhibited activity in opposition to HCT-8, A-549, HeLa, and Hep-G2 tumour cell lines were designed(Qin et al., 2015a). Further verification of the findings was achieved via docking simulations, which revealed that the compound conformed more closely to the binding pocket of AURKA (PDB code 3D14) in comparison to AURKB (PDB code 4C2V), with Aurora A possessing a binding energy of 9.05 kcal/mol and Aurora B 10.02 kcal/mol(Xu et al., 2020).

Furthermore, the substance under investigation created hydrogen bonds with key residues in the enzyme's active site through hydrophobic interactions. Several compounds were conceived and synthesized with the aim of inhibiting Aurora kinase and demonstrating promising anticancer properties(Lee et al., 2019).

Potent AKIs were produced by Liang Long *et al.* using an N-trisubstituted pyrimidine scaffold. Twelve N-trisubstituted pyrimidine derivatives were synthesized, with IC₅₀ values of 0.0071 and 0.0257 μ M for AURKA and AURKB inhibition. Furthermore, leukemia cells were polyploidized. The findings demonstrated that these compounds exhibited a higher degree of inhibition towards AURKA compared to AURKB. Additionally, they displayed antiproliferative effects against the U937 human leukemia cell line (IC₅₀ value of 0.012M) (Long et al., 2018).

The cumulative findings of these investigations underscore the encouraging prospects of these compounds as feasible candidates for further investigation and progression as targeted anticancer agents. Informed by their prior investigations, Long *et al.* evaluated the cytotoxic properties of an extensive variety of human cancer, including epidermoid carcinoma (A431), cervical cancer (Hela), leukaemia tumour (U937 and K562), and Breast tumours among humans (MCF-7 as well as MDA-MB-231). As a standard for validating these pyrimidines, the authors employed VX-680. Compound 8, which was produced in a series, demonstrated significant antiproliferative characteristics. The compound demonstrated a low micromolar inhibitory effect on diverse cellular strains, such as K562, Hela, MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, HCT116, and A431(Luo et al., 2014). Specifically, it exhibited an IC₅₀ value of 12.2 nM against U937. Subsequent investigations utilizing flow cytometry and immunofluorescence techniques revealed that compound 8 exerts its effects via the promotion of spindle formation defects, chromosome alignment, and polyploidy. In addition, compound 8 exhibited advantageous chemical, thermal, and physical stabilities Compound eight has the potential to be used as a precursor in the development of a medication that particularly targets tumors.(Qin et al., 2015b)

Through inside screening, the bisanilinopyrimidine 1 substituted with o-carboxylic acid was identified as a potent finding (Aurora A $IC_{50} = 6.1 \pm 1.0$ nM) as shown in figure 3.1. According to comprehensive structure–activity relationship (SAR) investigations, polar substituents situated at the para position of the B-ring play a crucial role in generating potent activity. B-Ring modifications were implemented in an effort to increase the permeability and solubility of the substance. It was discovered that 9m and other compounds possessing water dissolving groups at the opposite end of the B-ring inhibited Aurora A activation in breast cancer cells. (Lawrence et al., 2012).





Aurora A IC₅₀ = 6.1 \pm 1.0 nM (*in vitro*) Aurora A IC₅₀ > 100 μ M (*in vivo*)

Aurora A IC₅₀ = 14.4 \pm 1.7 nM (*in vitro*) Aurora A IC₅₀ = 0.3 - 1.0 μ M (*in vivo*)

Figure 5: Highly potent o-Chlorophenyl Substituted Pyrimidines (Lawrence et al., 2012b; Xu et al., 2020b)

3.2.2: Quinazolines and quinolines as inhibitors of Aurora Kinase

Yung Chang Hsu *et al.* identified a quinazoline-based multi kinase inhibitor, BPR1K871 which exhibits dual-targeting activity against acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and solid tumours via FMS-like receptor AURKA. Fourteen analogs from the quinazoline series were synthesized. BPR1K871 was identified as the most effective quinoline-based kinase inhibitor (Chang Hsu et al., 2016).

Six cancer cell lines were subjected to screening of the newly synthesized analogues: K562, U937, A549, NCI-H661, HT29, and LoVo. While a considerable proportion of the compounds demonstrated substantial inhibitory effects against four evaluate tumour cell lines, their activity against two leukaemia cell lines was significantly reduced. Compounds 20a–d demonstrated a high extent of inhibition, as evidenced by their IC₅₀ values ranging from 0.9 to 3.4 mM, which surpassed those of the standard ZM447439(Cai et al., 2014).

In addition, an investigation was conducted to find out the inhibitory effects of these substances on Aurora kinase and the majority of these compounds demonstrated a severe degree of sensitivity towards Aurora A in contrast to Aurora B. Coupling simulations confirmed that 20b and Aurora A's active ATP binding site sustained interaction through numerous hydrogen bonds with the active site's critical areas (Fan et al., 2020). In their research, Fan *et al.* provided a comprehensive concept, synthesis, and biological evaluation of imidazole-coupled analogues of this molecule. They identified these derivatives as unique anticancer medicines with the ability to inhibit Aurora kinase.

Furthermore, docking experiments were performed in order to determine the justification behind the compound's selective inhibitory tendency towards AURKA (PDB ID: 3P9J)(Al-Sanea et al., 2020).

3.2.3: Pyridine as an inhibitor of Aurora Kinase

To explore innovative anticancer agents, three separate investigations demonstrate the synthesis and assessment of compounds that specifically target Aurora kinases. Song *et al.* conducted a study wherein they synthesized pyrrolopyridinyl linked indazole derivatives (Compound 26) and assessed their ability to prevent the proliferation of different types of malignant cells. Compound 26a demonstrated considerable cytotoxicity towards HCT116 cells, outperforming Taxol. Apoptosis followed by cell cycle stoppage in the G2/M phase was determined through mechanistic investigations. The 5-amide linkage increased the affinity of binding to the ATP site of AURKA, as determined by molecular docking(Song et al., 2015).

To develop inhibitors of Aurora kinase A, Lomov *et al.* utilized a computational methodology to design imidazolyl pyridine derivatives. The compounds that were synthesized exhibited robust interactions requiring binding within the active region of AURKA.

Rashdan *et al.* generated 1,2,3-triazolyl-pyridine hybrids via molecular hybridization and assessed the antiproliferative function against HepG2 cells(Rashdan et al., 2021). Significantly, it exhibited remarkable efficacy, surpassing that of doxorubicin, while causing minimal harm

to healthy cells. In silico investigations and docking simulations both demonstrated efficacious binding to AURKB.

Furthermore, in order to overcome the oral bioavailability constraints of pyrazoloaminopyridines inspired by VX-680, Morioko investigated a novel category of pyrazoloaminopyridines and it has been recognised as Aurora A and B kinase dual inhibitors, demonstrating significant GI₅₀ values in HCT116 cells. (Morioka, 2016).

3.2.4: Benzimidazole as an AURKA blocker

Amira *et al.* made a new group of benzimidazoles as shown in figure 3.2 with a pyrimidine group attached to them as possible Aurora kinase inhibitors. These chemicals were very effective against several types of tumor cells, such as HCT116, HepG2, and A2780. chemicals 33a and 33b were the most effective. Their ability to fight cancer was proven by finding a link between Aurora kinase A and KSP reduction, which stopped the growth of cells. The chemicals that were made were very good at stopping KSP at a single-digit nanomolar level and very bad at stopping AURKA at a low micromolar level(Abd El-All et al., 2015).

The structural traits of these compounds were confirmed even more by spectral characterization. Compound 34, which is made up of benzimidazole joined quinazolines, was studied by Sharma *et al.* as an Aurora kinase inhibitor. The in vitro test showed that compound 34a had the most powerful effect against Aurora A, beating out the standard drug ZM447439. Molecular linking investigations demonstrated that strong interactions and high energy binding are exhibited by these compounds with vital residues located in the active pocket of AURKA(Sharma et al., 2016).

This makes them a possible lead for developing drugs that can fight cancer. Magd-El-Din and his colleagues made benzimidazole-based Schiff bases and their metal complexes, then tested how well they worked against tumors. It showed the strongest activity against cancer cell lines

of the breast (MCF-7), hepatic (HepG2), and respiratory (A549). On Ehrlich's ascites malignancy (EAC) cell lines, in vivo cytotoxicity assays indicated that all formed complexes were extremely toxic, suggesting that they may have therapeutic potential for EAC. Overall, these results are very helpful for understanding how to make benzimidazole derivatives that might work against cancer by hitting Aurora kinases. (Fancelli et al., 2005).



Figure 6: Chemical structure of benzimidazole (Ibrahim & Refaat, 2020)

3.3: Preclinical Studies: In vitro and in vivo findings

There have been reports of over thirty AKIs that are undergoing preclinical testing; numerous articles have been devoted to their synthesis, development, and biological activity. On the basis of their origin, AKIs have been categorized as either naturally occurring compounds or synthetic compounds. Preclinical studies have provided evidence that Aurora kinase inhibitors, at varying concentrations, can selectively inhibit the activity of Aurora-A, -B, and -C kinases. The specific inhibition of these kinases is intended to interfere with their vital functions, which include mitotic progression and cell division. Additionally, there is a comprehensive overview of the outcomes is provided which are derived from in vitro and in vivo investigations conducted on these compounds. The investigation of the molecular mechanisms that govern the activity of Aurora kinase inhibitors is a fundamental objective of preclinical research.

Frequently, research examines the effects of these inhibitors on mitotic events, cell cycle regulation, and downstream signaling pathways. This information aids in clarifying the therapeutic significance of these inhibitors (Sankhe et al., 2021a). A comprehensive list of Aurora kinase inhibitors in preclinical development is shown in table 3.1.

Compound Names	IC50 values	s Preclinical activity observed both in vivo and in vitro					
		settings					
CCT137690	A: 42 nM	• Increased p53 stability and reduces histone H3					
	B: 198 nM	activation in HCT116 cells					
N N N	C: 227 nM	• Activates p21 in several cell lines through both					
HN N F		p53-dependent and p53-independent mechanisms.					
CI		• Histone H3 phosphorylation decreased by fifty					
о́гон		percent, and tumor growth was inhibited by 57.7					
		percent, in experimental rodents infected with					
		HCT116 xenografts.					
SP-96	A: n/a	• Selective reduction of growth in NCI60 screening					
	B: 0.316	• $GI_{50} < 1000 \text{ nM}$ for the majority of the cell lines					
	nM	• Inhibits Aurora B that operates via ATP-non-					
	C: n/a	competitive mechanisms.					
N ²²⁴							
PHA-680632	A: 27 nM	Polyploidy arises in tumor cells					
	B: 135 nM	• By enhancing cellular apoptosis and decreasing					
	C: 120 nM	cell proliferation in tumors, it has been observed					

Table 1: AKIs in Preclinical investigations

			to inhibit the growth of various types of malignant cells in mice xenografts.
U3K030394	A: II/a	•	Induces cell cycle arrest specifically in the G2/M
0	B: 5.28 nM		phase.
OH	C: n/a	•	Inhibits the growth of cancer cells and
			Aspergillus fumigatus.
Reversine	A: 400 nM	•	Suppresses the growth of cells and triggers
	B: 500 nM		targeted cell death by altering the activity of
	C: 400 nM		caspase 3 and Bax/Bcl-2 proteins
		٠	Demonstrates an IC_{50} value of 660 nM for the A3
\bigcup			adenosine receptor in humans
		•	Blocks the process of histone H3 phosphorylation
			in HCT116 cells.
CCT137690	A: 15 nM	٠	Exhibits antiproliferative effects in several
	B: 25 nM		malignant cell lines
	C: 19 nM	•	Promotes cell death, multiplication, and mitotic a
			bnormalities in cancer cells.

Note: n/a; Data is not available

3.4: Aurora Kinase inhibitors in clinical trials according to recent progress

Clinical trials involving Aurora kinase inhibitors are establishing themselves as a promising area of investigation in cancer research. As their involvement in the development of cancer has been established, kinases represent an appealing therapeutic target. The main purpose of the clinical trials is to assess the safety, efficacy, and tolerability of Aurora kinase-targeting small-molecule inhibitors. Certain inhibitors have already exhibited promising results in preclinical studies, demonstrating the ability to inhibit the growth of cancer cells and ultimately induce apoptosis. The variety of cancer types involved in the trials is representative of the extensive spectrum of malignancies in which Aurora kinases are implicated. Scholars and practitioners are extremely motivated to comprehend the therapeutic effects of these inhibitors, both when used in isolation and in conjunction with established treatments. At least seventy clinical trials utilizing these compounds commenced in 2005 (Martin et al., 2017). Table 3.2 displays the current state of certain compounds in clinical phase that act as inhibitors of Aurora kinase.

Table 2: Clinical investigations of AKIs

AKIs in clinical phase III

Drugs	Clinical Phase	indication	Current	IC ₅₀ values		Reference
			status	(µm)		
				AURKA	AURKB	
Barasertib	Phase III	Acute myeloid	Completed	1.369	0.00037	(Kovacs et al.,
(AZD1152)		leukaemia,				2023a)
AstraZeneca		Advanced solid				
		malignancies				
CS2164	Phase III	Advanced solid	Completed	-	0.009	(Kovacs et al.,
Cancer		tumors				2023a)
research uk						

AKIs in clinical phase II

Drugs	Clinical	indication	Current	IC ₅₀		Reference
	phase		status	values(µm)		
				AURKA	AURKB	
Danusertib	Phase II	Leukemia,	On going	0.013	0.079	(Kovacs et
Nerviano		solid tumors				al., 2023a)
Pharmaceuticals						
ENMD-2076	Phase II	Leukemia,	On going	0.014	0.35	(Sankhe et
University		solid tumors				al., 2021b)
health						

network,						
Toronto						
AT92	Phase II	Leukemia,	Terminated	0.003	-	(Borah &
Astex		solid tumors				Reddy,
Pharmaceuticals						2021)

AKIs in clinical phase I

Drugs	Clinical	Indication	Current	IC ₅₀		Reference
	phase		status	values(µm)		
				AURKA	AURKB	
AZD2811	Phase	Advanced solid	On going	-	0.37	(Johnson et
AstraZeneca	Ι	tumors, NSCLC				al., 2023)
AMG 900	Phase	Solid tumors,	On going	0.005	0.004	(Kovacs et
Amgen	Ι	acute myeloid				al., 2023a)
		leukemia				
PF-03814735	Phase	Solid tumors	On going	0.0008	0.005	(Sankhe et
Pfizer	Ι					al., 2021c)

3.4.1: TAK-901

The IC₅₀ values for its activity against AURKA and AURKB are 0.021 and 0.015 μ M. In vitro investigations into enzyme inhibition demonstrated that TAK-901 inhibited AURKA and AURKB in a time-dependent manner. Using an affinity constant of 0.00002 M, the interaction between TAK901 and AURKB was determined (Farrell et al., 2009b). To figure out the maximal tolerated dose in patients with advanced solid tumours or lymphoma, a Phase 1 study was undertaken. The aforementioned trial contributed to the determination of the optimal phase 2 dose, infusion duration, and predictive pharmacokinetics of TAK-901. The results have not yet been disclosed(Kovacs et al., 2023a).

3.4.2: Barasertib (AZD1152)

Barasertib, as shown in figure 3.3, is an ATP-competitive inhibitor of Aurora B, belonging to the pyrazoloquinazoline derivative class. $IC_{50} = 0.37$ nM Aurora-B is significantly and selectively inhibited by barasertib. Extensive investigations have been conducted in clinical trials involving phases I, II, and III. Fifteen clinical trials have been undertaken in all. The malignancies being investigated are acute myeloid leukemia (in phases I, II, and III, ongoing), refractory diffuse B-cell lymphoma (in phase II, with limited anti-tumor response and administration issues), small-cell lung cancer (in phase II, currently recruiting participants), and advanced solid tumors (in phase I, with manageable effects). In general, Barasertib shows potential as an effective inhibitor of Aurora B for treating cancer. However, further clinical trials are necessary to evaluate its effectiveness in other types of cancer (Kovacs et al., 2023b).



Figure 7: Structure of Barasertib (AZD1152)

3.4.3: MLN8054

MLN8054 is a potent inhibitor of Aurora-A, a kinase that competes with ATP. Figure 3.4 illustrates the molecular structure of this molecule. This chemical exhibited a selectivity that was 40 times higher for Aurora-A compared to Aurora-B. The concentration at which AURKA is inhibited is 4 nM(IC₅₀). The suppression of growth of numerous cell lines in a laboratory setting was observed with compound 61, as indicated by IC₅₀ values varying between 0.11 μ M and 1.43 μ M. Compound 61 caused a disruption in the spindle formation, which is the fundamental work flow of Aurora-A, within the cells. As a result, the inhibitory impact of Aurora-A on cultured cells was more pronounced than that of Aurora-B. These defects impede the process of mitosis by facilitating the accumulation of G2/M. The experimental results indicate that compound 61 exhibited the ability to disrupt DNA double strands in androgen-resistant prostate cancer. Treatment of the tumour tissue with this compound increased both tubulin staining and beta-galactosidase activity, according to research conducted on an HCT-116 xenograft model(Manfredi et al., 2007; Moretti et al., 2011). Two phase I clinical trials targeting advanced solid tumours have been started.(Kovacs et al., 2023b)



Figure 8: Structure of MLN8054

3.4.4: Danusertib

Danusertib as shown in figure 3.5, is an Aurora B inhibitor that competes with ATP and is derived from 3-aminopyrazole. There are currently six clinical studies underway. These trials are specifically studying multiple myeloma (phase II terminated), chronic myeloid leukemia (phase II ongoing), accelerated or blast phase Philadelphia chromosome-positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia (phase I ongoing), prostate cancer (phase II ongoing), and advanced solid tumor malignancies (phase II ongoing)(Kovacs et al., 2023b).



Figure 9: Chemical structure of Danusertib

3.4.5: AMG-900

AMG 900 is a compound that is derived from phtalazinamine. The compound demonstrates potent inhibitory effects on three kinases, namely AURKA, AURKB, and AURKC, as indicated by its IC50 values of 0.005, 0.004, and 0.001 μ M, correspondingly. According to in vitro research, it hindered the autophosphorylation of AURKA and histone H3 on Ser10 of AURKB in HeLa cells. According to in vivo tests, it was found that the proliferation of HCT-116 cells was suppressed and the activity of histone H3 was stopped in a manner that depended on the dosage (Carducci et al., 2018).

Two clinical trials have been conducted on malignancy targets, comprising acute myeloid leukaemia (phase I, tolerable results) and advanced solid tumour (phase I, tolerated) (Kovacs et al., 2023b). Figure 3.6 below illustrates the chemical structure of this compound.



Figure 10: Chemical Structure of AMG-900

3.4.6: GSK1070916

GSK1070916, an azaindole-based inhibitor, is recognized as a reversible, ATP-competitive antagonist targeting Aurora B. Demonstrating significant efficacy, it exhibits IC₅₀ values of 0.38 and 1.5 nM for Aurora B and C, respectively, with a notable >250-fold preference for Aurora B over Aurora A(Adams et al., 2010). In in vivo experiments involving human lung cell carcinoma lines A549, an IC₅₀ of 7 nM was observed. Across more than 100 diverse human cancer cell lines, the compound displayed an IC₅₀ below 10 nM, accompanied by a promising reduction in tumor growth. Mouse xenograft studies revealed its anticancer effectiveness against human colon, lung, and breast malignancies(Hardwicke et al., 2009). The structural composition of this compound is visually represented in figure 3.7 below.

Ongoing phase I clinical trials aim to unveil further insights into its potential as a treatment for advanced solid malignancies(Kovacs et al., 2023a).



Figure 11: Chemical Structure of GSK1070916

3.5: FDA approved Aurora Kinase Inhibitors:

In 2023, a biopharmaceutical company named "Puma Biotechnology" announced that alisertib, a drug that inhibits the activity of Aurora A and is taken orally, has been granted Orphan Drug Designation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of small cell lung cancer (SCLC). Small cell lung cancer (SCLC) is an extremely deadly kind of lung cancer that offers limited therapeutic choices for patients who have advanced beyond platinum-based chemotherapy. Alan H. Auerbach, the CEO, President, and Founder of Puma, expressed enthusiasm about the FDA's recognition, highlighting the company's dedication to advancing alisertib for SCLC treatment. Given the urgent need for new therapies, Puma anticipates commencing the Phase II trial (Study PUMA-ALI-4201) for alisertib in small cell lung cancer.

Alisertib (MLN8237), as shown in figure 3.8 is a highly selective, reversible ATP competitive inhibitor with an IC₅₀<10 nM for AURKA. Millennium has developed MLN8237, an orally administered AKI with high selectivity, which functions by selectively targeting the ATP-binding site of AK. With an IC₅₀ of 0.0012 M, in vitro investigations demonstrated that AURKA exhibited a selectivity that was 200 times greater than that of AURKB. The compound effectively suppressed the phosphorylation of AURKA and caused a substantial reduction in the number of cells in the M phase of multiple myeloma (MM) cell lines (IC₅₀ = 0.003–1.71 μ M). Tumor growth suppression was documented through in vivo investigations, which revealed a reduction in both size of tumors and growth at concentrations of 15mg/kg and 30mg/kg. In the clinic, Alisertib was evaluated in patients with peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL) that had relapsed or become resistant. The drug was administered orally for seven consecutive days (Cycle Days 1–7) for a total of twenty-one days (up to 148 weeks) at a dose of 50 mg enteric-coated tablet formulation, twice daily, with positive results.

The side effects that were reported most frequently were neutropenia (47 percent of patients treated with Alisertib) and anemia (53 percent of patients treated with Alisertib) (O'Connor et al., 2019).

Orphan Drug Designation, granted by the FDA, is reserved for investigational therapies addressing rare diseases affecting fewer than 200,000 people in the United States. This designation offers various advantages for drug developers. In August 2023, Puma received FDA clearance for its Investigational New Drug application, allowing clinical development of alisertib monotherapy for extensive stage SCLC. The company expects to initiate the Phase II and they anticipate that the research will offer essential understanding regarding the clinical effectiveness of alisertib in small cell lung cancer. Specifically, the focus is on patients with molecularly defined tumors that could potentially be addressed using an aurora kinase A inhibitor such as alisertib (Puma Biotechnology, n.d.).



Figure 12: Chemical structure of Alisertib

3.6: Combination therapy with AKIs

The integration of targeted therapeutics with AKIs: The concurrent targeting of several oncogenes may increase the efficacy of AKIs. The ability of HDAC inhibitors to inhibit the expression of AURKA in diverse array of cancer cells has been demonstrated in studies. Moreover, AKIs are capable of inhibiting the functionality of HDAC proteins. This implies that the concurrent use of AKIs and HDAC inhibitors may yield synergistic outcomes. Previous studies have established that the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat augments the cytotoxic activity of MK-0457 against breast cancer and leukaemia cells(Chuang et al., 2013).

In addition, it has been demonstrated that the concurrent administration of vorinostat and MK-0457 or MK-5108, Aurora kinase inhibitor, increases lymphocyte lysis through the inhibition

of c-Myc, hTERT, and microRNA expression. The combination of AURKA inhibitor and the HDAC inhibitor romidepsin has a significant synergistic effect by influencing cytokine regulation, according to a study on T-cell lymphomaAMG900 and vorinostat inhibit cell growth synergistically when administered concurrently, in both laboratory and living organism contexts(Park et al., 2004). A clinical trial examining the combination of AURKA inhibitor and vorinostat for the treatment of relapsed/refractory lymphoid malignancies in patients has shown encouraging results in terms of clinical efficacy and safety. The application of EGFR inhibitors has transformed the treatment of NSCLC(Shah et al., 2019).

EGFR inhibitor resistance has been attributed to various mechanisms, one of which involves the activation of supplementary oncogenic proteins. Recent research indicates that EGFRmutant LUAD cells that are resistant to third-generation EGFR inhibitors are susceptible to AKIs(Shah et al., 2019).

Combining AKIs and EGFR inhibitors further inhibits tumour growth in an EGFR-mutant LUAD PDX model by a substantial margin. There is potential for synergistic anticancer effects when both BRD4 and AURKA, which modulate the MYC gene at translational and posttranslational levels, are targeted. MLN8237 treatment combined with JQ1 treatment to inhibit BRD4 activity increases cell mortality in expressing human glioma cells(Ratushny et al., 2012).

Neuroblastoma is efficiently combated in vitro and in vivo by the combination of I-BET151 which is a BET inhibitor & Aurora A kinase inhibitor, with or without MYCN amplification. Two studies investigated the effectiveness of melanoma treatments that combined p53-activating MDM2 antagonists and senescence-inducing AKIs(Alcaraz-Sanabria et al., 2017). Antagonism of AURKA and MDM2 with MLN8237 and Nutlin-3 halted the growth of melanoma by inducing senescence, growth arrest, and increased immune infiltration and

clearance (Vilgelm et al., 2015). Protlin-3 and MK-0457 administered concurrently induced the activation of postmitotic checkpoints in the pseudo-G1 phase, resulting in proapoptotic signalling and mitochondrial apoptosis in AML, according to one study. In addition to AURKA, preclinical investigations have identified a number of molecules that may serve as targets, including SRC, CHEK1, mTOR, WEE1, PDK1, and MEK. (Maria et al., 2021)

The synergy between AKIs and immunotherapy: The application of targeted monoclonal antibodies and immunotherapy has been extensive in the treatment of cancer. These agents have the potential to augment treatment efficacy when combined with AKIs. For example, MK-5108 improves the inhibitory effect of anti-ganglioside (GD2) antibody 14G2a against human neuroblastoma cells. This enhancement is associated with an increase in PHLDA1 and p53 protein levels and a decrease in N-Myc expression(Horwacik et al., 2013). In IMR-32 neuroblastoma cells, concurrent administration of the anti-GD2 14G2a antibody and MK-5108 also stimulates autophagy. Antibody activating death receptor 5 has been identified as the agent responsible for inducing substantial cellular demise in tumour cells that are undergoing MLN8237-induced therapy-induced senescence(Brodeur & Bagatell, 2014).

The combination group demonstrated a significant decrease in tumour growth in melanoma xenografts derived from patient tissues and cell lines. Alisertib generates an immune microenvironment that combats cancer by increasing activated CD8+ and CD4+ T lymphocytes and decreasing myeloid-derived suppressor cells (Brodeur & Bagatell, 2014). Significantly, For the treatment of breast cancer cells, simultaneous administration of alisertib and a PD-L1 antibody has shown a synergistic effect. As a potential cancer treatment strategy, the combination of anti-PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint therapy and AKI treatment is highly encouraging.(Du et al., 2021)

3.7: The limitations of Aurora Kinase inhibitors

The effectiveness of cancer treatment faces a major obstacle due to the existence of inactive or resistant cells, leading to potential disease recurrence. Increased expression of drug transport pumps often leads to elevated drug expulsion, commonly causing resistance to multiple drugs. Additionally, the activation of DNA repair processes and compromised apoptosis further contributes to the development of drug resistance. Research has emphasized the presence of mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene, observed in more than 50% of human malignancies, including colorectal cancer.

Madhu Kollareddy and colleagues have identified CYC116 as an inhibitor of AURKA, AURKB, AURKC, and VEGFR2. However, its efficacy is compromised in tumors overexpressing the antiapoptotic Bcl-xL protein, potentially leading to insensitivity to drugs like AZD1152, VX-680, and MLN8054 due to high cross-resistance. Combining CYC116 with a Bcl-xL inhibitor is suggested as a potential strategy to overcome or prevent resistance to AURK inhibitors. Guo *et al.* observed that the AZD1152 AURK blocker built up resistance in SW620 and MiaPaca cell lines by increasing the expression of BCRP and PgP (Guo et al., 2009).

Furthermore, Seamon et al. identified an increase in BCRP expression in HeLa cell lines resistant to JNJ-7706621 (Seamon et al., 2006), and Girdler *et al.* identified multiple AURKB mutations in HCT116 cell lines that were resistant to ZM447439 (Girdler et al., 2008). By employing 2D electrophoresis and MALDI TOF/TOF, Rita Hrabakova *et al.* analyzed the protein composition of HCT116 colon cancer cells and identified platelet-activating factor acetyl hydrolase and GTP-binding nuclear protein Ran as factors that play a role in the resistance of these cells to ZM447439. In the absence of p53 effect, serine hydroxymethyltransferase was discovered to promote tumor growth in CYC116-resistant cells.

37

Particularly noteworthy are the proteins serine hydroxymethyltransferase, serpin B5, and calretinin, which have the potential to assist combination therapies in surmounting resistance.

In addition, resistance to AURK inhibitors was observed in CCRF-CEM (a leukemia cell line) and A549 (a lung adenocarcinoma) cell lines, where overexpression of these proteins was detected. This suggests that they may serve as viable targets for overcoming drug resistance in cancer. Hence, it is critical to comprehend the processes that give rise to drug resistance in order to identify promising targets for anti-cancer medications that can specifically eradicate resistant cells at distinct stages of the disease.

Chapter 4: Conclusion

To summarize, this review has presented a thorough analysis of the present status of studies on Aurora kinase inhibitors as potential medications for treating cancer and emphasizes the vital role of Aurora kinases, specifically Aurora A and B, in regulating essential cellular processes related to mitosis and cell division. Targeted inhibition of these kinases has become a strategic method to interrupt abnormal cell cycle progression, trigger mitotic catastrophe, and promote death in cancer cells. Also, Aurora kinase inhibitors have exhibited promise in treating an extensive variety of malignancies, including glioblastoma multiforme, ovarian cancer, leukemia, hepatocellular carcinoma, colorectal cancer, and lung cancer, as well as gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Significantly, these inhibitors have demonstrated effectiveness in preclinical and in vitro models, which has identified the initiation of clinical trials to evaluate their safety and efficacy in human. Moreover, there is a current demand for the creation of anticancer drugs that have reduced side effects and beneficial pharmacological qualities. Targeting Aurora kinases can achieve this potential. The literature reports and clinical trial data have demonstrated that these inhibitors may play a pivotal role in the next generation of anticancer therapies, offering hope for improved outcomes and enhanced patient survival.

Chapter 5: Future perspective and therapeutic potential

The current main research approach of Aurora kinase inhibitors is focused on highly selective Aurora kinase inhibitors or multi-target inhibitors used either alone or in combination therapy. So, the potential of Aurora kinase inhibitors as anticancer agents in the future is extremely encouraging for the advancement of cancer treatment. Aurora kinases serve as vital cellular division regulator and their dysregulation is frequently observed in a variety of malignancies. Therefore, they are desirable drug development targets. Aurora kinase inhibitors possess therapeutic potential due to their capacity to impede the progression of the cell cycle, stimulate apoptosis, and selectively target malignant cells exhibiting aberrant Aurora kinase activity.

- Integration of Therapies: By Examining the potential for synergistic effects when Aurora kinase inhibitors are combined with well-established therapeutic techniques such as chemotherapy, immunotherapy, and targeted therapies. Combinatorial strategies have the potential to augment treatment effectiveness, surmount resistance, and mitigate adverse effects.
- Integration of Precision Medicine: Create individualized therapeutic approaches by considering the distinct molecular attributes of tumours. Targeting Aurora kinases with precision could result in more efficient and personalized therapy, hence reducing the occurrence of off-target effects.
- **Specific Isoform Targeting:** Develop inhibitors that exhibit improved selectivity towards particular isoforms of Aurora kinase. By mitigating the detrimental consequences linked to non-specific inhibition, this methodology has the potential to elevate the therapeutic index and bolster the safety profile of these agents.
- Exploring the Mechanisms of Resistance: Examine in greater detail the molecular processes that contribute to resistance to inhibitors of Aurora kinase. The

comprehension and resolution of resistance mechanisms will be critical in the advancement of therapeutic strategies that are more robust and long-lasting.

- **Innovative Systems for Drug Delivery:** Explore novel approaches to drug delivery in order to enhance the tissue distribution and bioavailability of inhibitors of Aurora kinase. By minimizing systemic adverse effects and optimizing the therapeutic concentration at the target site, enhanced drug delivery strategies are possible.
- Utilizations in Pediatric Oncology: Considering the role of Aurora kinases in the process of regular cell division, examine the safety and effectiveness of Aurora kinase inhibitors in pediatric cancer. Customizing these inhibitors for pediatric patients could potentially circumvent the distinct obstacles and needs associated with childhood malignancies.
- **Biomarker Formation:** Determine and authenticate dependable biomarkers for prognosticating the impact of Aurora kinase inhibitors. Patient selection will be facilitated by robust biomarkers, which will enable more precise prognostications of treatment efficacy.
- Measures to Prevent Metastasis: Evaluate the capacity of inhibitors of Aurora kinase to impede or restrict the spread of metastases. Aurora kinase inhibition may disrupt processes that are critical for metastasis, thereby providing novel therapeutic approaches to manage advanced stages of cancer.

In the future, the clinical use of inhibitors of Aurora kinase as anticancer drugs is expected to include a holistic approach that incorporates precision medicine, combination therapies, and new ways to boost the therapeutic potential of these medications. In order to fully realise the full range of benefits that these inhibitors can give in the ongoing fight against cancer, it is essential that research and clinical exploration be continue.

References

- Abd El-All, A. S., Magd-El-Din, A. A., Ragab, F. A. F., ElHefnawi, M., Abdalla, M. M., Galal,
 S. A., & El-Rashedy, A. A. (2015). New Benzimidazoles and Their Antitumor Effects
 with Aurora A Kinase and KSP Inhibitory Activities. *Archiv Der Pharmazie*, 348(7), 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1002/ardp.201400441
- Adams, N. D., Adams, J. L., Burgess, J. L., Chaudhari, A. M., Copeland, R. A., Donatelli, C.
 A., Drewry, D. H., Fisher, K. E., Hamajima, T., Hardwicke, M. A., Huffman, W. F.,
 Koretke-Brown, K. K., Lai, Z. V., McDonald, O. B., Nakamura, H., Newlander, K. A.,
 Oleykowski, C. A., Parrish, C. A., Patrick, D. R., ... Dhanak, D. (2010). Discovery of
 GSK1070916, a Potent and Selective Inhibitor of Aurora B/C Kinase. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *53*(10), 3973–4001. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm901870q
- Alcaraz-Sanabria, A., Nieto-Jiménez, C., Corrales-Sánchez, V., Serrano-Oviedo, L., Andrés-Pretel, F., Montero, J. C., Burgos, M., Llopis, J., Galán-Moya, E. M., Pandiella, A., & Ocaña, A. (2017). Synthetic Lethality Interaction Between Aurora Kinases and CHEK1 Inhibitors in Ovarian Cancer. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 16(11), 2552–2562. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0223
- Al-Sanea, M. M., Elkamhawy, A., Paik, S., Lee, K., El Kerdawy, A. M., Syed Nasir Abbas, B., Joo Roh, E., Eldehna, W. M., Elshemy, H. A. H., Bakr, R. B., Ali Farahat, I., Alzarea, A. I., Alzarea, S. I., Alharbi, K. S., & Abdelgawad, M. A. (2020). Sulfonamide-based 4anilinoquinoline derivatives as novel dual Aurora kinase (AURKA/B) inhibitors: Synthesis, biological evaluation and in silico insights. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 28(13), 115525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2020.115525

- Bayliss, R., Sardon, T., Ebert, J., Lindner, D., Vernos, I., & Conti, E. (2004). Determinants for Aurora-A Activation and Aurora-B Discrimination by TPX2. *Cell Cycle*, 3(4), 402–405. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.3.4.777
- Bebbington, D., Binch, H., Charrier, J.-D., Everitt, S., Fraysse, D., Golec, J., Kay, D., Knegtel, R., Mak, C., Mazzei, F., Miller, A., Mortimore, M., O'Donnell, M., Patel, S., Pierard, F., Pinder, J., Pollard, J., Ramaya, S., Robinson, D., ... Westcott, J. (2009). The discovery of the potent aurora inhibitor MK-0457 (VX-680). *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, *19*(13), 3586–3592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2009.04.136
- Borah, N. A., & Reddy, M. M. (2021). Aurora Kinase B Inhibition: A Potential Therapeutic Strategy for Cancer. *Molecules*, *26*(7), 1981. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26071981
- Borisa, A. C., & Bhatt, H. G. (2017a). A comprehensive review on Aurora kinase: Small molecule inhibitors and clinical trial studies. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 140, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.08.045
- Borisa, A. C., & Bhatt, H. G. (2017b). A comprehensive review on Aurora kinase: Small molecule inhibitors and clinical trial studies. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 140, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.08.045
- Brodeur, G. M., & Bagatell, R. (2014). Mechanisms of neuroblastoma regression. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, 11(12), 704–713. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.168
- Cai, J., Li, L., Hong, K. H., Wu, X., Chen, J., Wang, P., Cao, M., Zong, X., & Ji, M. (2014).
 Discovery of 4-aminoquinazoline—urea derivatives as Aurora kinase inhibitors with antiproliferative activity. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 22(21), 5813–5823.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2014.09.029

- Cardon, M. S., Wincent, J., Singh, J., & Drnovsek, M. (2009). THE NATURE AND EXPERIENCE OF ENTREPRENEURIAL PASSION. Academy of Management Review, 34(3), 511–532. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2009.40633190
- Carducci, M., Shaheen, M., Markman, B., Hurvitz, S., Mahadevan, D., Kotasek, D., Goodman,
 O. B., Rasmussen, E., Chow, V., Juan, G., Friberg, G. R., Gamelin, E., Vogl, F. D., &
 Desai, J. (2018). A phase 1, first-in-human study of AMG 900, an orally administered
 pan-Aurora kinase inhibitor, in adult patients with advanced solid tumors. *Investigational New Drugs*, *36*(6), 1060–1071. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10637-018-0625-6
- Chang Hsu, Y., Selvaraj Coumar, M., Wang, W.-C., Shiao, H.-Y., Ke, Y.-Y., Lin, W.-H., Kuo, C.-C., Chang, C.-W., Kuo, F.-M., Chen, P.-Y., Wang, S.-Y., Li, A.-S., Chen, C.-H., Kuo, P.-C., Chen, C.-P., Wu, M.-H., Huang, C.-L., Yen, K.-J., Chang, Y.-I., ... Hsieh, H.-P. (2016). Discovery of BPR1K871, a quinazoline based, multi-kinase inhibitor for the treatment of AML and solid tumors: Rational design, synthesis, *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation. *Oncotarget*, 7(52), 86239–86256. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.13369
- Cheetham, G. M. T., Knegtel, R. M. A., Coll, J. T., Renwick, S. B., Swenson, L., Weber, P., Lippke, J. A., & Austen, D. A. (2002). Crystal Structure of Aurora-2, an Oncogenic Serine/Threonine Kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(45), 42419–42422. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C200426200
- Chuang, M.-J., Wu, S.-T., Tang, S.-H., Lai, X.-M., Lai, H.-C., Hsu, K.-H., Sun, K.-H., Sun, G.-H., Chang, S.-Y., Yu, D.-S., Hsiao, P.-W., Huang, S.-M., & Cha, T.-L. (2013). The HDAC Inhibitor LBH589 Induces ERK-Dependent Prometaphase Arrest in Prostate Cancer via HDAC6 Inactivation and Down-Regulation. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), e73401. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073401

- Dalton, W. B., & Yang, V. W. (2009). Role of prolonged mitotic checkpoint activation in the formation and treatment of cancer. *Future Oncology*, 5(9), 1363–1370. https://doi.org/10.2217/fon.09.118
- de Souza, V. B., & Kawano, D. F. (2020). Structural basis for the design of allosteric inhibitors of the Aurora kinase A enzyme in the cancer chemotherapy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* (BBA) General Subjects, 1864(1), 129448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2019.129448
- Ditchfield, C., Johnson, V. L., Tighe, A., Ellston, R., Haworth, C., Johnson, T., Mortlock, A., Keen, N., & Taylor, S. S. (2003). Aurora B couples chromosome alignment with anaphase by targeting BubR1, Mad2, and Cenp-E to kinetochores. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *161*(2), 267–280. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200208091
- Du, R., Huang, C., Liu, K., Li, X., & Dong, Z. (2021). Targeting AURKA in Cancer: molecular mechanisms and opportunities for Cancer therapy. *Molecular Cancer*, 20(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-020-01305-3
- Fan, C., Zhong, T., Yang, H., Yang, Y., Wang, D., Yang, X., Xu, Y., & Fan, Y. (2020). Design, synthesis, biological evaluation of 6-(2-amino-1H-benzo[d]imidazole-6-yl)quinazolin-4(3H)-one derivatives as novel anticancer agents with Aurora kinase inhibition. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 190, 112108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2020.112108
- Fancelli, D., Berta, D., Bindi, S., Cameron, A., Cappella, P., Carpinelli, P., Catana, C., Forte,
 B., Giordano, P., Giorgini, M. L., Mantegani, S., Marsiglio, A., Meroni, M., Moll, J.,
 Pittalà, V., Roletto, F., Severino, D., Soncini, C., Storici, P., ... Vianello, P. (2005). Potent
 and Selective Aurora Inhibitors Identified by the Expansion of a Novel Scaffold for

Protein Kinase Inhibition. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 48(8), 3080–3084. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm049076m

- Farrell, P., Shi, L., Matuszkiewicz, J., Balakrishna, D., Elliott, S., Halkowycz, P., Feher, V., Paraselli, B., Grimshaw, C., Sang, B., & de Jong, R. (2009a). Abstract B270: Profiling the biochemical and cellular activities of TAK-901, a potent multi-targeted Aurora-B kinase inhibitor. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8(12_Supplement), B270–B270. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.TARG-09-B270
- Farrell, P., Shi, L., Matuszkiewicz, J., Balakrishna, D., Elliott, S., Halkowycz, P., Feher, V., Paraselli, B., Grimshaw, C., Sang, B., & de Jong, R. (2009b). Abstract B270: Profiling the biochemical and cellular activities of TAK-901, a potent multi-targeted Aurora-B kinase inhibitor. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8(12_Supplement), B270–B270. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.TARG-09-B270
- Ferrari, S., Marin, O., Pagano, M. A., Meggio, F., Hess, D., El-Shemerly, M., Krystyniak, A., & Pinna, L. A. (2005). Aurora-A site specificity: a study with synthetic peptide substrates. *Biochemical Journal*, 390(1), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20050343
- Fu, J., Bian, M., Jiang, Q., & Zhang, C. (2007). Roles of Aurora Kinases in Mitosis and Tumorigenesis. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-06-0208
- Galetta, D., & Cortes-Dericks, L. (2020). Promising Therapy in Lung Cancer: Spotlight on Aurora Kinases. *Cancers*, *12*(11), 3371. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers12113371
- Georgieva, I., Koychev, D., Wang, Y., Holstein, J., Hopfenmüller, W., Zeitz, M., & Grabowski,P. (2010). ZM447439, a Novel Promising Aurora Kinase Inhibitor, ProvokesAntiproliferative and Proapoptotic Effects Alone and in Combination with Bio- and

Chemotherapeutic Agents in Gastroenteropancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumor Cell Lines. *Neuroendocrinology*, *91*(2), 121–130. https://doi.org/10.1159/000258705

- Girdler, F., Sessa, F., Patercoli, S., Villa, F., Musacchio, A., & Taylor, S. (2008). Molecular Basis of Drug Resistance in Aurora Kinases. *Chemistry & Biology*, 15(6), 552–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2008.04.013
- Gritsko, T. M., Coppola, D., Paciga, J. E., Yang, L., Sun, M., Shelley, S. A., Fiorica, J. V, Nicosia, S. V, & Cheng, J. Q. (2003). Activation and overexpression of centrosome kinase BTAK/Aurora-A in human ovarian cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 9(4), 1420–1426.
- Guo, J., Anderson, M. G., Tapang, P., Palma, J. P., Rodriguez, L. E., Niquette, A., Li, J., Bouska, J. J., Wang, G., Semizarov, D., Albert, D. H., Donawho, C. K., Glaser, K. B., & Shah, O. J. (2009). Identification of genes that confer tumor cell resistance to the Aurora B kinase inhibitor, AZD1152. *The Pharmacogenomics Journal*, 9(2), 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1038/tpj.2008.20
- Hardwicke, M. A., Oleykowski, C. A., Plant, R., Wang, J., Liao, Q., Moss, K., Newlander, K., Adams, J. L., Dhanak, D., Yang, J., Lai, Z., Sutton, D., & Patrick, D. (2009).
 GSK1070916, a potent Aurora B/C kinase inhibitor with broad antitumor activity in tissue culture cells and human tumor xenograft models. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 8(7), 1808–1817. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-09-0041
- Harrington, E. A., Bebbington, D., Moore, J., Rasmussen, R. K., Ajose-Adeogun, A. O., Nakayama, T., Graham, J. A., Demur, C., Hercend, T., Diu-Hercend, A., Su, M., Golec, J. M. C., & Miller, K. M. (2004). VX-680, a potent and selective small-molecule inhibitor of the Aurora kinases, suppresses tumor growth in vivo. *Nature Medicine*, *10*(3), 262–267. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1003

- Hauf, S., Cole, R. W., LaTerra, S., Zimmer, C., Schnapp, G., Walter, R., Heckel, A., van Meel, J., Rieder, C. L., & Peters, J.-M. (2003). The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for Aurora B in correcting kinetochore–microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *161*(2), 281–294. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200208092
- Hirota, T., Lipp, J. J., Toh, B.-H., & Peters, J.-M. (2005). Histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation by Aurora B causes HP1 dissociation from heterochromatin. *Nature*, 438(7071), 1176– 1180. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04254
- Horwacik, I., Durbas, M., Boratyn, E., Węgrzyn, P., & Rokita, H. (2013). Targeting GD2 ganglioside and aurora A kinase as a dual strategy leading to cell death in cultures of human neuroblastoma cells. *Cancer Letters*, 341(2), 248–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.08.018
- Johnson, M. L., Wang, J. S., Falchook, G., Greenlees, C., Jones, S., Strickland, D., Fabbri, G., Kennedy, C., Elizabeth Pease, J., Sainsbury, L., MacDonald, A., Schalkwijk, S., Szekeres, P., Cosaert, J., & Burris, H. (2023). Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of Aurora kinase B inhibitor AZD2811: a phase 1 dose-finding study in patients with advanced solid tumours. *British Journal of Cancer*, *128*(10), 1906–1915. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-023-02185-2
- Keen, N., & Taylor, S. (2004). Aurora-kinase inhibitors as anticancer agents. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(12), 927–936. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1502
- Kollareddy, © M, Dzubak, P., Zheleva, D., Hajduch, M., Kollareddy, M., Dzubak, P., Zheleva,
 D., & Hajduch, M. (2008). AURORA KINASES: STRUCTURE, FUNCTIONS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH CANCER (Vol. 152, Issue 1).

- Kovacs, A. H., Zhao, D., & Hou, J. (2023a). Aurora B Inhibitors as Cancer Therapeutics. *Molecules*, 28(8), 3385. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28083385
- Kovacs, A. H., Zhao, D., & Hou, J. (2023b). Aurora B Inhibitors as Cancer Therapeutics. *Molecules*, 28(8), 3385. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28083385
- Lawrence, H. R., Martin, M. P., Luo, Y., Pireddu, R., Yang, H., Gevariya, H., Ozcan, S., Zhu,
 J.-Y., Kendig, R., Rodriguez, M., Elias, R., Cheng, J. Q., Sebti, S. M., Schonbrunn, E., &
 Lawrence, N. J. (2012). Development of *o* -Chlorophenyl Substituted Pyrimidines as
 Exceptionally Potent Aurora Kinase Inhibitors. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 55(17),
 7392–7416. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm300334d
- Lee, Y. H., Park, J., Ahn, S., Lee, Y., Lee, J., Shin, S. Y., Koh, D., & Lim, Y. (2019). Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of polyphenols with 4,6-diphenylpyrimidin-2-amine derivatives for inhibition of Aurora kinase A. *DARU Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 27(1), 265–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40199-019-00272-5
- Lin, X., Xiang, X., Hao, L., Wang, T., Lai, Y., Abudoureyimu, M., Zhou, H., Feng, B., Chu, X., & Wang, R. (2020). The role of Aurora-A in human cancers and future therapeutics. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 10(9), 2705–2729.
- Lin, Z.-Z., Hsu, H.-C., Hsu, C.-H., Yeh, P.-Y., Huang, C.-Y. F., Huang, Y.-F., Chen, T.-J., Kuo, S.-H., Hsu, C., Hu, F.-C., Jeng, Y.-M., Chung, Y., & Cheng, A.-L. (2009). The Aurora kinase inhibitor VE-465 has anticancer effects in pre-clinical studies of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Journal of Hepatology*, 50(3), 518–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2008.10.022
- Long, L., Luo, Y., Hou, Z.-J., Ma, H.-J., Long, Z.-J., Tu, Z.-C., Huang, L.-J., Liu, Q., & Lu, G. (2018). Synthesis and biological evaluation of aurora kinases inhibitors based on N -

trisubstituted pyrimidine scaffold. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *145*, 805–812. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.12.082

- Luo, Y., Deng, Y.-Q., Wang, J., Long, Z.-J., Tu, Z.-C., Peng, W., Zhang, J.-Q., Liu, Q., & Lu, G. (2014). Design, synthesis and bioevaluation of N-trisubstituted pyrimidine derivatives as potent aurora A kinase inhibitors. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 78, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.03.027
- Manfredi, M. G., Ecsedy, J. A., Meetze, K. A., Balani, S. K., Burenkova, O., Chen, W., Galvin, K. M., Hoar, K. M., Huck, J. J., LeRoy, P. J., Ray, E. T., Sells, T. B., Stringer, B., Stroud, S. G., Vos, T. J., Weatherhead, G. S., Wysong, D. R., Zhang, M., Bolen, J. B., & Claiborne, C. F. (2007). Antitumor activity of MLN8054, an orally active small-molecule inhibitor of Aurora A kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(10), 4106–4111. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0608798104
- Maria, A. G., Silva Borges, K., Lira, R. C. P., Hassib Thomé, C., Berthon, A., Drougat, L., Kiseljak-Vassiliades, K., Wierman, M. E., Faucz, F. R., Faça, V. M., Tone, L. G., & Stratakis, C. A. (2021). Inhibition of Aurora kinase A activity enhances the antitumor response of beta-catenin blockade in human adrenocortical cancer cells. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 528, 111243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2021.111243
- Martin, D., Fallaha, S., Proctor, M., Stevenson, A., Perrin, L., McMillan, N., & Gabrielli, B. (2017). Inhibition of Aurora A and Aurora B Is Required for the Sensitivity of HPV-Driven Cervical Cancers to Aurora Kinase Inhibitors. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, *16*(9), 1934–1941. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0159
- Melichar, B., Adenis, A., Lockhart, A. C., Bennouna, J., Dees, E. C., Kayaleh, O., Obermannova, R., DeMichele, A., Zatloukal, P., Zhang, B., Ullmann, C. D., & Schusterbauer, C. (2015). Safety and activity of alisertib, an investigational aurora kinase

A inhibitor, in patients with breast cancer, small-cell lung cancer, non-small-cell lung cancer, head and neck squamous-cell carcinoma, and gastro-oesophageal adenocarcinoma: a five-arm phase 2 study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *16*(4), 395–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(15)70051-3

- Moretti, L., Niermann, K., Schleicher, S., Giacalone, N. J., Varki, V., Kim, K. W., Kopsombut,
 P., Jung, D. K., & Lu, B. (2011). MLN8054, A Small Molecule Inhibitor of Aurora Kinase
 A, Sensitizes Androgen-Resistant Prostate Cancer to Radiation. *International Journal of Radiation* Oncology*Biology*Physics, 80(4), 1189–1197.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.01.060
- Morioka, M. (2016). 3-Cyano-6-(5-methyl-3-pyrazoloamino) pyridines (Part 2): A dual inhibitor of Aurora kinase and tubulin polymerization. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 26(24), 5860–5862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2016.11.020
- Mou, P. K., Yang, E. J., Shi, C., Ren, G., Tao, S., & Shim, J. S. (2021). Aurora kinase A, a synthetic lethal target for precision cancer medicine. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, 53(5), 835–847. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-021-00635-6
- Nikonova, A. S., Astsaturov, I., Serebriiskii, I. G., Dunbrack, R. L., & Golemis, E. A. (2013). Aurora A kinase (AURKA) in normal and pathological cell division. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 70(4), 661–687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1073-7
- O'Connor, O. A., Özcan, M., Jacobsen, E. D., Roncero, J. M., Trotman, J., Demeter, J., Masszi,
 T., Pereira, J., Ramchandren, R., Beaven, A., Caballero, D., Horwitz, S. M., Lennard, A.,
 Turgut, M., Hamerschlak, N., d'Amore, F. A., Foss, F., Kim, W.-S., Leonard, J. P., ...
 Shustov, A. R. (2019). Randomized Phase III Study of Alisertib or Investigator's Choice
 (Selected Single Agent) in Patients With Relapsed or Refractory Peripheral T-Cell

Lymphoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 37(8), 613–623. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.18.00899

- Ouchi, M., Fujiuchi, N., Sasai, K., Katayama, H., Minamishima, Y. A., Ongusaha, P. P., Deng,
 C., Sen, S., Lee, S. W., & Ouchi, T. (2015). BRCA1 phosphorylation by Aurora-A in the regulation of G2 to M transition. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(36), 22311. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.A115.311780
- Park, J.-H., Jung, Y., Kim, T. Y., Kim, S. G., Jong, H.-S., Lee, J. W., Kim, D.-K., Lee, J.-S., Kim, N. K., Kim, T.-Y., & Bang, Y.-J. (2004). Class I Histone Deacetylase-Selective Novel Synthetic Inhibitors Potently Inhibit Human Tumor Proliferation. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 10(15), 5271–5281. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0709
- Pradhan, T., Gupta, O., Singh, G., & Monga, V. (2021). Aurora kinase inhibitors as potential anticancer agents: Recent advances. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 221, 113495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2021.113495
- Qin, W.-W., Sang, C.-Y., Zhang, L.-L., Wei, W., Tian, H.-Z., Liu, H.-X., Chen, S.-W., & Hui,
 L. (2015a). Synthesis and biological evaluation of 2,4-diaminopyrimidines as selective
 Aurora A kinase inhibitors. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 95, 174–184.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2015.03.044
- Qin, W.-W., Sang, C.-Y., Zhang, L.-L., Wei, W., Tian, H.-Z., Liu, H.-X., Chen, S.-W., & Hui, L. (2015b). Synthesis and biological evaluation of 2,4-diaminopyrimidines as selective Aurora A kinase inhibitors. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 95, 174–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2015.03.044
- Rashdan, H. R. M., Shehadi, I. A., & Abdelmonsef, A. H. (2021). Synthesis, Anticancer Evaluation, Computer-Aided Docking Studies, and ADMET Prediction of 1,2,3-

Triazolyl-Pyridine Hybrids as Human Aurora B Kinase Inhibitors. *ACS Omega*, 6(2), 1445–1455. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c05116

- Ratushny, V., Pathak, H. B., Beeharry, N., Tikhmyanova, N., Xiao, F., Li, T., Litwin, S., Connolly, D. C., Yen, T. J., Weiner, L. M., Godwin, A. K., & Golemis, E. A. (2012). Dual inhibition of SRC and Aurora kinases induces postmitotic attachment defects and cell death. *Oncogene*, *31*(10), 1217–1227. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.314
- Sankhe, K., Prabhu, A., & Khan, T. (2021a). Design strategies, SAR, and mechanistic insight of Aurora kinase inhibitors in cancer. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*, 98(1), 73–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.13850
- Sankhe, K., Prabhu, A., & Khan, T. (2021b). Design strategies, SAR, and mechanistic insight of Aurora kinase inhibitors in cancer. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*, 98(1), 73–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.13850
- Sankhe, K., Prabhu, A., & Khan, T. (2021c). Design strategies, SAR, and mechanistic insight of Aurora kinase inhibitors in cancer. *Chemical Biology & Drug Design*, 98(1), 73–93. https://doi.org/10.1111/cbdd.13850
- Sasai, K., Katayama, H., Stenoien, D. L., Fujii, S., Honda, R., Kimura, M., Okano, Y., Tatsuka, M., Suzuki, F., Nigg, E. A., Earnshaw, W. C., Brinkley, W. R., & Sen, S. (2004). Aurora-C kinase is a novel chromosomal passenger protein that can complement Aurora-B kinase function in mitotic cells. *Cell Motility*, 59(4), 249–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/cm.20039
- Seamon, J. A., Rugg, C. A., Emanuel, S., Calcagno, A. M., Ambudkar, S. V., Middleton, S. A., Butler, J., Borowski, V., & Greenberger, L. M. (2006). Role of the ABCG2 drug transporter in the resistance and oral bioavailability of a potent cyclin-dependent kinase/Aurora kinase inhibitor. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 5(10), 2459–2467. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-06-0339

- Sepulveda, A. R., Hamilton, S. R., Allegra, C. J., Grody, W., Cushman-Vokoun, A. M., Funkhouser, W. K., Kopetz, S. E., Lieu, C., Lindor, N. M., Minsky, B. D., Monzon, F. A., Sargent, D. J., Singh, V. M., Willis, J., Clark, J., Colasacco, C., Rumble, R. B., Temple-Smolkin, R., Ventura, C. B., & Nowak, J. A. (2017). Molecular Biomarkers for the Evaluation of Colorectal Cancer. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, *19*(2), 187–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2016.11.001
- Shah, K. N., Bhatt, R., Rotow, J., Rohrberg, J., Olivas, V., Wang, V. E., Hemmati, G., Martins, M. M., Maynard, A., Kuhn, J., Galeas, J., Donnella, H. J., Kaushik, S., Ku, A., Dumont, S., Krings, G., Haringsma, H. J., Robillard, L., Simmons, A. D., ... Bandyopadhyay, S. (2019). Aurora kinase A drives the evolution of resistance to third-generation EGFR inhibitors in lung cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 25(1), 111–118. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0264-7
- Sharma, A., Luxami, V., Saxena, S., & Paul, K. (2016). Benzimidazole-Based Quinazolines: *In Vitro* Evaluation, Quantitative Structure–Activity Relationship, and Molecular Modeling as Aurora Kinase Inhibitors. *Archiv Der Pharmazie*, 349(3), 193–201. https://doi.org/10.1002/ardp.201500281
- Song, P., Chen, M., Ma, X., Xu, L., Liu, T., Zhou, Y., & Hu, Y. (2015). Identification of novel inhibitors of Aurora A with a 3-(pyrrolopyridin-2-yl)indazole scaffold. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 23(8), 1858–1868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmc.2015.02.004
- Stewart, S., & Fang, G. (2005). Destruction Box–Dependent Degradation of Aurora B Is Mediated by the Anaphase-Promoting Complex/Cyclosome and Cdh1. *Cancer Research*, 65(19), 8730–8735. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1500
- Sugimoto, K., Urano, T., Zushi, H., Inoue, K., Tasaka, H., Tachibana, M., & Dotsu, M. (2002). Molecular Dynamics of Aurora-A Kinase in Living Mitotic Cells Simultaneously

Visualized with Histone H3 and Nuclear Membrane Protein Importin.ALPHA.. *Cell Structure and Function*, 27(6), 457–467. https://doi.org/10.1247/csf.27.457

- Thrane, S., Pedersen, A. M., Thomsen, M. B. H., Kirkegaard, T., Rasmussen, B. B., Duun-Henriksen, A. K., Lænkholm, A. V, Bak, M., Lykkesfeldt, A. E., & Yde, C. W. (2015). A kinase inhibitor screen identifies Mcl-1 and Aurora kinase A as novel treatment targets in antiestrogen-resistant breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 34(32), 4199–4210. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2014.351
- Vilgelm, A. E., Pawlikowski, J. S., Liu, Y., Hawkins, O. E., Davis, T. A., Smith, J., Weller, K. P., Horton, L. W., McClain, C. M., Ayers, G. D., Turner, D. C., Essaka, D. C., Stewart, C. F., Sosman, J. A., Kelley, M. C., Ecsedy, J. A., Johnston, J. N., & Richmond, A. (2015).
 Mdm2 and Aurora Kinase A Inhibitors Synergize to Block Melanoma Growth by Driving Apoptosis and Immune Clearance of Tumor Cells. *Cancer Research*, *75*(1), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2405
- Xu, Y., Hao, S.-Y., Zhang, X.-J., Li, W.-B., Qiao, X.-P., Wang, Z.-X., & Chen, S.-W. (2020).
 Discovery of novel 2,4-disubstituted pyrimidines as Aurora kinase inhibitors. *Bioorganic*& Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 30(3), 126885.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2019.126885
- Yan, X., Cao, L., Li, Q., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., Saiyin, H., Liu, X., Zhang, X., Shi, Q., & Yu, L.
 (2005). Aurora C is directly associated with Survivin and required for cytokinesis. *Genes to Cells*, *10*(6), 617–626. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2443.2005.00863.x
- Yang, G., Chang, B., Yang, F., Guo, X., Cai, K. Q., Xiao, X. (Sherry), Wang, H., Sen, S., Hung,
 M.-C., Mills, G. B., Chang, S., Multani, A. S., Mercado-Uribe, I., & Liu, J. (2010). Aurora
 Kinase A Promotes Ovarian Tumorigenesis through Dysregulation of the Cell Cycle and

Suppression of BRCA2. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *16*(12), 3171–3181. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-3171